THE SEARCH PHASE OF COLLEGE CHOICE AS EXPERIENCED BY ELEVEN PROSPECTIVE STUDENTS VISITING A MIDWEST COLLEGE OF AGRICULTURE

by

SANDRA KLEIN

B.S., Kansas State University, 2006

A REPORT

submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

MASTER OF SCIENCE

Department of Curriculum and Instruction

College of Education

KANSAS STATE UNIVERSITY Manhattan, Kansas

2011

Approved by:

Major Professor Shannon Washburn

Abstract

Each year higher education institutions seek to recruit and attract high school graduates to their institutions. Millions of high school seniors each year are in the midst of the college choice process, attempting to determine which institution is "right" for them. This study explored college choice factors important to high school seniors in the search phase of the college choice process. To carry out this study purposeful sampling was used to select 11 high school seniors participating in individually scheduled campus visits. An interview process was used to investigate what college choice factors were important to them when choosing a university/college. Student responses were ultimately categorized into six areas: interest in a specific major/program area, reputation, ideal distance from home, family interaction with institution, factors related to paying for college, and campus environment.

Table of Contents

List of Tables iv
Introduction
Review of the Literature
Statement of Purpose
Methodology
Researcher Subjectivity9
Findings and Analysis10
Specific major / program of study10
Reputation12
Ideal distance from home
Family interaction with institution14
Factors related to paying for college15
Campus Environment15
Prior campus experience15
Friendly people16
Clubs and activities
Size of the institution17
Atmosphere
Conclusions, Implications and Recommendations
References

Tables
Table 1

Introduction

In 2008, 2.1 million high school graduates (68 percent of all high school graduates) nationwide enrolled in post secondary education for the fall semester immediately following their high school graduation or GED completion (U.S. Department of Education National Center for Educational Statistics, 2009). Each of these students made the choice of which institution they would attend. In 2008-2009 this meant choosing from over four thousand degree granting institutions (U.S. Department of Education National Center for Educational Statistics, 2009). Deciding where to attend college can be a confusing and overwhelming process. For the discerning student taking in all the information of recruitment materials, college visits, admissions requirements, financial aid, etc.; the goal of finding the institution that is the "perfect fit" is a formidable task.

Within the world of higher education lays the related challenge of effectively attracting and recruiting students. In the name of recruitment, colleges and universities disseminate information highlighting the best they have to offer; focusing on general collegiate concepts including campus features/characteristics, academics/faculty, co-curricular opportunities, mission/purpose and prestige/value (Hartley and Morphew, 2008; Harris, 2009). Moving beyond the general college choice factors, marketing materials tout school accolades: strong traditions of excellence, national successes, prestigious alumni, personal successes, athletic accomplishments, university mantras and other notable attributes (Harris, 2008) all in the name of attracting new applicants. Raising the stakes of effective institutional marketing and recruiting efforts is the number of first-time college and university freshman indicating they applied to four or more institutions, which reached a record high of over 60 percent in 2008 (Pryor, Hurtado, DeAngelo, Sharkness, Romero, Korn, & Tran, 2008).

Review of the Literature

As the competition to attract students continues to increase, institutions are turning toward market research as a means of fortifying their marketing efforts. (Vander Schee, 2009). Marketing an educational institution is complex and multifaceted: the college choice process involves all aspects of an institution, from athletics to faculty to student life, as well as family members, social climate, economic factors and even public policy (Kinzie, Palmer, Hayek, Hossler, Jacob & Cummings, 2004). Despite the complexities, it is widely agreed that the basis for higher education marketing efforts should rest in "a clear grasp of the choice and decision making processes of intending applicants" (Maringe, 2006, p. 466).

Hossler and Gallagher's (1987) "Three Phase Model of College Choice" is widely used as a lens through which to study the college choice process (Bateman and Hossler, 1996; Mooney, 2007; Urbanski, 2000). Hossler and Gallagher assert that prospective students move through three phases throughout the college choice process (Hossler and Gallagher, 1987). Phase 1: Predisposition is described by the authors as "a developmental phase in which students determine whether or not they would like to continue their education beyond high school" (Hossler and Gallagher, 1987, p. 209). Factors that contribute to a student's decision to attend a postsecondary institution include socioeconomic status, parental expectations, career opportunities, financial aid and potential income differentials (Bateman and Hossler, 1996; Hossler and Gallagher, 1987; Maringe, 2006; Urbanski, 2000). Which variable is most important to any given student is highly subjective and specific to a particular student's personal identity (gender, ethnicity, personal experiences, educational activities, significant others etc.) (Bateman and Hossler, 1996; Hossler and Gallagher, 1987; Urbanski, 2000). The predisposition stage,

although fluid and complex, is key to progressing to Phase 2: Search (Bateman and Hossler, 1996; Hossler and Gallagher, 1987).

While students entering phase two have some accrued knowledge of colleges and universities, they continue to compile and consider the factors most important to them throughout the search phase, eventually forming a "choice set" (Hossler and Gallagher, 1987). According to survey and diary research, choice set formation begins as early as students' freshman year in high school and continues through the application process (Rosen, Curran and Greenlee, 1998). Students spend phase two reading promotional materials, visiting their choice set institutions and weighing the factors most important to them, which as in phase one, are highly specific to the individual (Mooney, 2007; Rosen et al., 1998; Urbanski, 2000). Factors most often include criteria based on academic (test scores, reputation of program, etc.), social (size, location, amenities, etc.), and cost (tuition, financial assistance, etc.) elements (DesJardens, Dundar, and Hendel, 1999; Mooney, 2007, Urbanski, 2000). As students gather this information in the search phase and deliberate their decision, they move into phase three: choice. It is in the choice phase that a student makes the decision of which institution they plan to attend (Hossler and Gallagher, 1987). Although this choice is often driven by a consensus of multiple factors specific to the individual, research indicates that a connection or relationship between an institution and student can be a driving factor, as can financial assistance, size and location of the institution (Acker, Hughes, and Fendley, 2004; Hossler and Gallagher, 1987; Nafukho and Burnett, 2002).

The three phases of the college choice process offered by Hossler and Gallagher, provide a framework from which to view this complex and highly individual specific deliberation process. Many of the existing studies of college choice utilize quantitative collection and analysis

of survey data (Absher and Crawford, 1996; Acker et al., 2004; Capraro, Patrick, and Wilson, 2004; DesJardins et al., 1999; Maringe, 2006; Shaw, Kobrin, Packman and Schmidt, 2009; Urbanski, 2000; Vander Schee, 2009). These studies provide valuable feedback for marketing efforts, yielding information regarding "most frequently reviewed [marketing] information" and the "top ten decision factors [when choosing a college]" (Rosen et al., 1998). While essential, the limitations of current research are that students most often respond to, rank, etc. a predetermined set of college choice factors without the opportunity to add factors important to them that do not appear on the predetermined list. A qualitative examination of this process would yield only responses directly from students and avoid introducing new factors to students during the investigation.

Additionally, much of the existing literature on college choice focuses on choice factors general to the respective overarching institution/university, and without seeking to investigate choice factors of a specific college or program of study (Absher and Crawford, 1996; Acker et al., 2004; Capraro et al., 2004; DesJardins et al., 1999; Maringe, 2006; Shaw et al., 2009; Urbanski, 2000; Vander Schee, 2009). These findings have proven valuable to understanding the mindset of prospective students during the three stages of the college choice process (Hossler and Gallagher, 1987) and have reinforced the importance of expanding studies to college and department levels. Though limited, studies targeting colleges within a university have produced findings valuable to recruitment and marketing. In their 2002 study, Nafukho and Burnett found that while general direct mailings from an institution play a role in student choice, mailings from specific colleges/program of studies are significantly more impactful. Washburn, Garton and Vaughn found the number of students who reported participating in on-campus activities and one on one communications with professors, varied significantly between the department and college

level (2002). A 2005 study of college choice at the college level found matriculants of a college of agriculture "were most influenced by the academic reputation of the university, career opportunities, prestige of the university and preparation for employment" (Rocca and Washburn p. 37). Expanding studies of college choice to all levels of an institution will strengthen the knowledge base from which we are able to view and understand factors contributing to a prospective student's college choice decisions.

The present study investigated the college choice factors of prospective students in the search phase of the college choice process as they participated in a campus visit in the college of agriculture at a land grant university in the mid-west region of the United States. As the majority of current college choice research reflects prospective students of liberal arts universities in coastal regions, this context provides a unique investigation into the college choice process that is lacking in existing literature. The majority of existing literature utilizes a positivist approach. Prior qualitative studies have investigated various influences (parents, college guides, friends, counselors, etc.) on students in the college choice process (Rosen et al., 1998). Other qualitative studies have focused on "factors related to the impact and usefulness of promotional materials" on students in the college choice process (Armstrong and Lumsden, 1999, p. 86). The qualitative nature of this study combined with the agricultural and land grant context will illicit new insights from prospective students that will include variables related to these two settings. Recruiting students into agricultural related studies is of growing importance as the agriculture industry continues to grow and expand, with an estimated job growth of almost 16 percent from 2008-2010 (Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2010).

Researching college choice is a fluid endeavor, the climate of high school students, higher education and the social contributors are in constant flux. Research has shown us that the

pressure on high school students to choose the "right" institution is a constant in the world of college choice (Rosen et. al, 1998; Kinzie et. al., 2004). This study seeks to build on the foundation of existing empirical data through a qualitative analysis of college choice on the college level by analyzing the free responses of students regarding the factors that influence their higher education decisions.

Statement of Purpose

Statement of Purpose:

The purpose of this study is to identify college choice factors most important to prospective agriculture students through a dialogue of students' personal experiences.

The following questions were used to provide a framework for the dialogue:

- Why did you decide to visit the K-State College of Agriculture

- When you think about your future college/university what factors are important to you?

-What is the most important factor influencing your decision on what college/university you will attend?

Methodology

In order to allow students to use their own words in describing what has influenced their decisions regarding college choice, a qualitative constructionist approach was utilized for this study. The constructionist epistemology asserts understanding of the world is derived and constructed through one's personal experiences and interactions (Crotty, 1998). Interviews were used to facilitate student reflection of their constructed wants/needs for certain characteristics of higher education. More specifically, eleven interviews were used to allow students to identify

college choice factors they considered most important when selecting a college through a dialogue of students' personal experiences while in the search phase of their college choice process.

Purposeful sampling, a method of selecting "individuals and sites for study because they can purposefully inform an understanding of the research problem," as well as convenience sampling, using those participants that are readily available, were used in this study (Creswell, 2007, p. 125). Participants were selected from a pool of high school seniors participating in an official visit to the Kansas State University College of Agriculture during the fall or spring of their senior year in high school.

Participants were initially contacted via email to explain the purpose of the study, the collection methods, the importance of their participation and their protected rights under informed consent. Students were then interviewed on the date of their individually scheduled campus visit. The content of the initial contact email, informed consent document and interview guide were submitted to and approved by the Kansas State University Institutional Review Board. Permission to contact and interview prospective students was also given by the Kansas State University admissions office. The final sample consisted of eleven traditionally-aged high school seniors planning to continue their education after high school. Though diversity in terms of gender, state of residence and interest area was represented, this study did not attempt to make connections between any aspect of diversity and subjects' responses. For the purposes of discussion participants in this study were assigned pseudonyms. Participant pseudonym, gender, major of interest, home state and age is presented in Table 1.

Table 1

Participant Information

Participant	Gender	Major of Interest	Home State	Age
Adam	Male	Agribusiness	Missouri	18
Brittany	Female	Animal Sciences and Industry	Kansas	18
Elizabeth	Female	Pre-veterinary studies	Kansas	18
Hallie	Female	Pre-veterinary studies	Missouri	18
Jane	Female	Animal Sciences and Industry	Kansas	17
Lance	Male	Agriculture Education	Kansas	17
Mandi	Female	Animal Sciences and Industry	California	18
Nick	Male	Agribusiness	Kansas	18
Randy	Male	Milling Science and Management	Kansas	18
Rheba	Female	Pre-veterinary studies	Kansas	17
Travis	Male	Milling Science and Management	Texas	18

Each interview was conducted in a quiet location without time restrictions, but with an approximate duration of 15 minutes in length. The interview was structured with open-ended questions aimed at eliciting the subject's perspective of his/her own college choice experiences. Interview questions included:

- 1. Why did you decide to visit the K-State College of Agriculture?
- 2. When you came on your visit today what did you hope to learn?
- 3. When you think about your future college, what factors are important to you?
- 4. What would you say is the most important factor influencing your decision on what college/university to attend?

5. How did you decide what colleges/universities you were interested in finding out more about?

In addition to these set questions, probing questions were used to encourage participants to fully consider the questions posed to them.

Using these questions to illicit a variety of responses, the researchers collapsed the data into emergent themes and categories. To maximize objectivity, the data were analyzed using several strategies. First the interviews were transcribed and member checks were done by contacting participants via email to verify the accuracy of transcripts. The data were then evaluated using open coding to categorize emerging themes, first independently by two parties, then by triangulating the independent results. Denzin (1978) defines triangulation as "the combination of methodologies in the study of the same phenomenon" (p. 291). Triangulation may be used to "examine the same phenomenon from multiple perspectives" (Jick, 1979, p. 603) and was utilized in the present study to enhance the trustworthiness of the findings.

Researcher subjectivity

As a researcher investigating college choice I have prior experiences related to the subject matter to be disclosed in order to evaluate this study from a fresh perspective. Documenting tacit knowledge and beliefs allows the researcher to better identify and limit perspectives that could interfere with the research process, data, and findings (Glesne, 1999).

I have my own college choice process to reflect on as I chose to attend Kansas State University, majoring in an agriculturally related field. After graduating with a degree in agricultural education, I taught agricultural education at the middle school and high school levels for one year. I returned to Kansas State University to pursue a master's degree in curriculum and

instruction. While there I worked as a graduate teaching assistant in the Department of Communications and later took a full time job as events and projects coordinator for the Kansas State University College of Agriculture. In this role I interact with prospective students, current students, alumni, and supporters regularly. My interactions with prospective students primarily focus on recruitment, including events, email correspondence and campus visits.

Findings and Analysis

From the data six categories of factors related to college choice emerged; interest in a specific major/program area, reputation, ideal distance from home, family interaction with institution, factors related to paying for college, and campus environment. Specific details of these findings are as follows.

Specific Major / Program of Study

The category specific major/program of study represents student responses that their area of study was an important factor in considering which college or university they would attend. Noting that each of the students in the study were on an official campus visit to a college of agriculture provides some indication that they had already put at least a minimal degree of thought to their possible interests. Nick is an example of this broad interest that led students to visit campus:

Agriculture is my interest and I looked up online and K-State is right up there in the top three colleges in the nation. I was hoping to learn about different careers you can go into with Ag Business. Texas A&M, Iowa State, Nebraska – I got letters from all those places. They are all agricultural based colleges.

Randy shared "I've always been kind of interested in agriculture." This general interest in a program area prompted these students to pursue more information through a campus visit. Other participants had more specific major interests. Travis provided an example of how a specific major led him to this visit:

I'm really interested in the Milling Program. My counselors in school in Texas have been talking about it and it sounds interesting and my grandparents have been talking about it so I just kind of want to see what it is about. I'm really interested here because it is an exclusive program here and there's nothing like it in the U.S. and I'm interested in how things like that work, the whole milling process.

I decided based on the programs I want to go into. I want to go into engineering and agriculture and this school is good in both.

Travis was drawn to this college by his specific interest in two programs, as well as by unique programs at this particular institution. While Travis was seeking and factoring in information regarding undergraduate programs, some participants were looking beyond undergraduate study. Hallie states:

Probably the most important thing is the major itself and how I can learn about it. Well, I just, I looked at what colleges had both a "pre-vet" and a "vet" school. And because I didn't want to transfer to somewhere that only had a vet school.

Other participants likewise shared "I want to become a vet" and "I know that K-State has one of the top vet schools, so that is the main factor." Although some put more emphasis on it than others, each participant made some reference to a specific major or area of study.

Reputation

The reputation of the institution, college, or program was stated as an important factor to many of the participants of this study. Randy shared, "Kinda like...academics, a rich tradition and good reputation" Some of the participants gauged the reputation through feedback from others. Hallie shared, "I heard from a vet that I shadowed that they [Kansas State University] had a really good exotic animal [program] and that is what I want to go into." Similarly Adam stated:

I've always heard from a lot of people that K-State is a good ag school. I want to major in Ag Business and go back and manage the family farm and I want to have the business background so I know the decisions and can make educated guesses on how to make the best decision for the operation. People that talked about it range from colleagues of mine that show cattle around the country to older people, alumni from K-State, teachers, most of my teachers went to school around Missouri, but most older people talk about how K-State is a good school.

Many participants in this study cited sources they considered to be trustworthy, seen as friends, mentors, etc. who spoke about the reputation of institutions in which the participant was interested. Nick shares, "I've had some relatives graduate here and all my relatives liked it." Other participants who reported valuing the reputation of a university also gathered information from other sources. Brittany seemed to sum up the thoughts of many participants with her

comment, "[I am looking for] just a program that I can take to any place around and say I got a degree from 'there' and they will say 'oh, that's a great place to have a degree from.' "

Although the importance of reputation was expressed differently among the participants, the shared concept of wanting to attend an institution that was seen favorably by those around them and/or the industry/career to which they aspire, was seen as in important factor in choosing a college by the participants of this study.

Ideal distance from home

For many students, attending an institution of higher education means moving away from home and living on their own. In this study the participants identified the "ideal distance from home" an important factor they considered when making choices regarding higher education. Many participants shared the sentiment that an institution "close to home" was desirable and that "convenience and location is a factor". Hallie shared, "Of course distance from home played a really big factor. And so I just looked at the distance from home and the majors they had and that is what I decided on." Similarly, Elizabeth shared, "I want to be a vet, so really the only place nearby to go and K-State being not far away from home, its about an hour and 45 minute drive, so I can still see my family and everything when I want." However, other participants were also looking for an experience further from home. Adam shared:

I just kind of always wanted to be different in school. There was a kid who went to Hawaii and he's still there, but most kids go right around home, to Mizzou, or just kind of stay in the Missouri area. I thought about looking a little broader, keeping my options open around home, but also just looking a little broader of where everyone else goes.

This study did not focus on what the typical ideal distance from home was, only that the location of the institution, and the distance from it to the participants' "home" was identified as an important factor.

Family interaction with institution

While discussing what was important to them when choosing an institution, many of the participants of this study mentioned family members in connection with their deliberations. For many students in this study, family history with given institutions was a contributing factor to choosing a college. Many participants shared "my family went here." Rheba said "I didn't decide too much. I've basically known my whole life I wanted to go here. Both my sisters go here and I've been up here a lot and its basically like I really want to go here." Lance shared his family connections to multiple universities and the impact it has had on his choice process:

Both of my parents are K-State alumni and my sister was going to school up here and I've been up here quite a few times for State FFA Convention and State FFA contests and I've got a lot of family that has gone to school up here. I grew up involved in K-State and K-State sports...so a lot of family interests.

K-State has always been an interest for me because of my family and I never really thought of going to Oklahoma State until my sister went down there.

Jane's previous family interaction was even more prominent than most, "A lot of different reasons, I've grown up in the area and my dad works here so I've been on campus a lot and I like it, it's a really friendly community, you know, like everybody is nice." Previous family interaction with universities was a contributing factor in the college choice process for many of the participants.

Factors related to paying for college

The financial aspect of higher education also emerged as an important factor for the participants. Participants shared that they were influenced by "in-state tuition" and "what scholarships I can get in different areas." Adam shared:

I want to find the cheapest way to go. I don't want to be in debt going through. I feel like there are so many people that say 'oh I can get these student loans and it will all be good', but you still have to pay for them later and that gets a lot of people in trouble. I want to, hopefully, be able to go through without any debt, which I should be able to, but I want to find the best options for me.

Mandi also reflected the importance of cost in her statement, "Um, well price kind of has to do with some of [choosing a college], just because out-of-state prices are more expensive than instate." Like Mandi and Adam, many of the participants indicated they were considering factors related to paying for college when choosing what college they would attend.

Campus Environment

Of all the factors discussed, participants in this study spent the most time talking about campus environment. The category, campus environment, is comprised of five subcategories including prior campus experience, friendly people, clubs and activities, size of the institution and atmosphere.

Prior campus experience.

Participants in this study reflected the importance of campus atmosphere in their college choice process. They conveyed a sense that the familiarity of having been on campus provided a

sense of comfort in knowing what to expect. Mandi was making her first visit to campus the day of the interview, she shared why being on campus was valuable to her, "Since I'm out of state, I'm not really sure how everything works, which I know is kind of similar to everywhere else. But I just wanted to get a feel for how everything was." These statements from Mandi explaining why prior campus experience was important to her, supports other participants' statements of familiarity. Elizabeth shared "Decent environment, I mean I'm sort of used to the environment anyway" in the same spirit of wanting to have a sense of what to expect. Lance and Jane also referenced prior campus experiences.

Friendly people.

"Friendly people" at the institution was another college choice factor identified by participants. All the participants in this study shared a common sentiment: they wanted to attend an institution where "everybody is friendly." According to participant Hallie, friendly people was an important factor in feeling welcome at in institution:

> I'm just a big friendly person, I really like it when everyone is friendly and welcoming. I've been to colleges that aren't and it definitely shows. But at some colleges they've been like "hi how are you" and just random people will be like, "hi, can I help you?" and it's really great to be able to feel welcome.

Similarly, Lance shares, "Something that is really big for me is the people. How the people accept you – how comfortable you feel. I feel extremely comfortable in both Stillwater and Manhattan, so that is the big thing for me." Nick seemed to succinctly sum up the thoughts of the participants with his comment, "The people have to be friendly, that is what I like."

Clubs and activities.

The clubs and activities available for students were a factor that many of the participants considered in their college choice process. Some participants had ideas of specific groups or activities they wanted to participate in, others were more general. Nick shared:

I want to join intramural sports. I played lacrosse in high school so I want to do that here, probably. I'm thinking of going into AGR or FarmHouse because they are ag fraternities. My first year I'd probably go into a dorm, there might be like a fishing club or hunting club. I like those things, so I'll definitely join some clubs to get to meet people.

Other participants mentioned interests in "greek life", "being involved", and "campus activities". Rheba shared, "I like all the different clubs and stuff, they have like so many clubs its not hard to find one." Travis shared, "I think it'd be cool to get involved in campus activities and be around people a lot and not feel alone, because I'm [from] out of state." For many of the participants clubs and activities was an important component to their choice of institution.

Size of the institution.

Size of the institution, both by student population and geography, was considered an important factor to the participants. Participants spoke in terms of student population as well as physical size. Adam shared:

I just want to see how many kids are on campus. I'm from a very small town and I just want to see basically what the faculty to student ratio is and if it has kind of a small town feel to it because I just want to have a small town feel and personal experience.

Similarly, Nick shared:

Also, size. K-State is like the perfect size. Lawrence is a lot bigger and I don't like that. This seems like it is a lot smaller and there is not as many people, it seems a lot smaller. I like where Manhattan is located, not in the city but rural a little bit.

Not all the participants were looking for a small town environment, Hallie shared:

Mostly like a friendly atmosphere, I like a big campus, but not so big it feels like 'oh my goodness I'm overwhelmed', ya know. And I would also like to have the smaller classes like one on one with like the professors and stuff.

Taking yet a another approach on size, Mandi shared, "Um, kinda, well the college kind of needs to be close together, like not super far. Like things can't be miles apart because that would be hard because I don't really have transportation to get to those places." Although expressed in different ways and in varying opinions, the size of the institution was an important factor for many of the participants.

Atmosphere.

Overall "atmosphere" of the college or institution was a factor many of the participants discussed as being important. The most common sentiment shared was "how comfortable I feel" and "feeling like I belong." Travis shared:

Um, feeling like I belong. Going out of state like this I'm 8 to 10 hours away from my family so I kind of have to feel good about being here.

Biggest three [factors] are program of study, financial aid and sense of home, and of those three sense of home is the most important.

Brittany said:

I wanted to have good campus life and great classes, fun classes, small sizes where the teacher gets to know you and you can learn great stuff from them. Good campus life, being able to just talk to people and have fun in the dorms, it's not just typical boring routine stuff in that every day.

Lance shared:

The number one factor is where I'm most comfortable at. (If) I'm not comfortable at the school I'm not going to do near as well. I'm not going to enjoy my college experience at all. So probably the number one thing for me is how comfortable it is for me and how much fun I'm having.

So really, if the school fits my personality and the town fits my personality that is probably where I will end up.

One participant referred to atmosphere as the "x factor", and the sentiment of the gut reaction to how they personally related to the overall atmosphere was shared among many of the participants.

Conclusions, Implications and Recommendations

This qualitative study sought to identify college choice factors important to the eleven participants and this study did not make attempts to generalize the results beyond these participants. The findings of this study are consistent with the literature base in finding that college choice factors are highly specific to the individual; no two participants having the exact same expectations for their future college or university (Bateman and Hossler, 1996; Hossler and

Gallagher, 1987; Urbanski, 2000). Despite the unique set of characteristics each participant shared, commonalities were found among them.

In describing what college choice factors are important to them, participants of this study regarded three overarching and overlapping themes as important: institutional characteristics, participant background, and personal impression.

Institutional factors included programs offered, facilities, extracurricular opportunities and other experiences and services provided, organized or supported on the university, college or departmental level. Examples of institutional characteristics were shared by the participants when discussing specific programs and majors, clubs and organizations, etc. Other institutional characteristics, such as campus environment, are more abstract in nature. Campus environment is a broad concept that in this study encompassed prior campus experience, friendly people, clubs and activities, size of the institution, and atmosphere. Although campus environment certainly contains a degree of personal interpretation, many factors stem from the institution or college level. Though none of the institutional factors can likely be drastically altered in any given direction overnight, the college and university certainly has the means to affect the overall culture of their institution and the factors discussed that students consider important. Data gathered in this study suggest the university, college, and department should continue to feature institutional factors in personal interactions, promotional materials, visits to campus, etc., focusing on accolades of specific majors and programs of study as well as promoting a welcoming, friendly and fun campus environment through both words and actions. Additionally, developing new means of highlighting the identified institutional factors and making them more visible to prospective students would target factors participants in this study deemed important.

Participant background primarily describes students' previous interactions with the university's campus, college, faculty, students, etc., either first hand or through family and friends. Institutions should continue current practices that promote family experiences and participant interactions with the university, colleges and departments. Events held on campus or hosted by the university that seek to create interactions with prospective students, build a connection between students and the institution.

Although "personal impression" is an abstract concept consisting of a student's personal impression and attitude toward an institution based upon experiences, recommendations, observations, etc., our participants gave indications that it is one of the most important factors they are considering when selecting a university. Maximizing impact on personal impression is difficult because each student may interpret and reflect upon common experiences differently. The participants in the study, however, indicated a personable and friendly demeanor may have the largest impact. Institutions should work to promote a university/college/department culture of listening and responding in a respectful, friendly way. As our participants indicated, prospective students notice not only their personal interactions, but the overall atmosphere of a campus.

Building upon these findings, future research opportunities in college choice are abundant. Conducting similar studies with students visiting a given institution, but who ultimately enrolled at another university may yield important findings. Follow-up investigations to studies such as this have the potential to track participants though all phases of the college choice process, evaluating changes and consistencies wit Hossler and Gallagher's theory (1987). College choice factors described as being important by participants, such as "friendly people", have the potential to themselves be studied and analyzed for their constituent components,

characteristics, etc. Future research may also compare responses of students of predetermined demographic categories, for example students with parents possessing college degrees versus first generation college-bound students. Replicating studies of past college choice research are also important as changes in society (technology, marketing, social networking, societal norms, etc) are likely to affect prospective students and their beliefs/opinions/expectations of higher education.

References

- Absher, K., & Crawford, G. (1996). Marketing the community college starts with understanding students' perspectives. *Community College Review*, 23(4), 59-67.
- Acker, J. C., Hughes, W. W., & Fendley, W. R., Jr. (2004). Alabama bound: Identifying factors associated with secondary education students' choice of attending the university of alabama
- Armstrong, J. J., & Lumsden, D. B. (1999). Impact of universities' promotional materials on college choice. *Journal of Marketing for Higher Education*, 9(2), 83-91.
- Bateman, M., & Hossler, D. (1996). Exploring the development of postsecondary education plans among african american and white students. *College and University*, 72(1), 2-9.
- Bureau of Labor Statistics, U.S. Department of Labor, *Occupational Outlook Handbook, 2010-11 Edition*, Agricultural and Food Scientists, Retrieved from http://www.bls.gov/oco/ocos046.htm
- Capraro, A. J., Patrick, M. L., & Wilson, M. (2004). Attracting college candidates: The impact of perceived social life. *Journal of Marketing for Higher Education*, *14*(1), 93-106.
- Creswell, John W. (2007). *Qualitative Inquiry & Research Design: Choosing Among Five Approaches* (2nd Ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications
- Crotty, M. (1998, 2003). *The foundations of social research: Meaning and perspective in the research process*. London ; Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

- Denzin, Norman K. (1978). The Research Act: A Theoretical Introduction to Sociological Methods. New York: McGraw-Hill
- DesJardins, S. L., Dundar, H., & Hendel, D. D. (1999). Modeling the college application decision process in a land-grant university. *Economics of Education Review*, 18(1), 117-132.
- Glesne, C. (1999). Becoming qualitative researchers: An introduction. New York: Longman
- Harris, M. S. (2009). Message in a bottle: University advertising during bowl games. *Innovative Higher Education*, 33(5), 285-296.
- Hartley, M., & Morphew, C. C. (2008). What's being sold and to what end? A content analysis of college viewbooks. *Journal of Higher Education*, 79(6), 671-691.
- Hossler, D., & Gallagher, K. S. (1987). Studying student college choice: A three-phase model and the implications for policymakers. *College and University*, *62*(3), 207-221.
- Jick, Todd D. (1979). Mixing Qualitative and Quantitative Methods: Triagulation in Action. Administrative Science Quarterly, 24(4), 602-611.
- Kinzie, J., Palmer, M., Hayek, J., Hossler, D., Jacob, S. A., & Cummings, H. (2004). Fifty years of college choice: Social, political and institutional influences on the decision-making process. new agenda series. volume 5, number 3
- Maringe, F. (2006). University and course choice: Implications for positioning, recruitment and marketing. *International Journal of Educational Management*, 20(6), 466-479.

- Mooney, C. (2007). Choosing a college: Student voices. *Chronicle of Higher Education*, *53*(34), B24.
- Nafukho, F.M. and Burnett, F.M. (2002) 'College Choice: The State of Marketing and Effective Student Recruitment Strategies', in T.M. Egan and S.A. Lynham (eds.) Referred Conference. Proceedings of the Academy of Human Resource Development Bowling Green, OH: Academy of Human Resource Development, pp. 788–795.
- Pryor, J.H., Hurtado, S., DeAngelo, L., Sharkness, J., Romero, L.C., Korn, W.S., & Tran, S. (2008). *The American freshman: National norms for fall 2008*. Los Angeles: Higher Education Research Institute, UCLA.
- Rocca, S.J. & Washburn, S.G. (2005). Factors influencing college choice of high school and transfer matriculants into a college of agriculture. *NACTA Journal*, *49*(1), 32-38.
- Rosen, D. E., Curran, J. M., & Greenlee, T. B. (1998). College choice in a brand elimination framework: The high school student's perspective. *Journal of Marketing for Higher Education*, 8(3), 73-92.
- Shaw, E. J., Kobrin, J. L., Packman, S. F., & Schmidt, A. E. (2009). *Describing students involved in the search phase of the college choice process: A cluster analysis study.(report)*
- Urbanski, R. A. (2000). Factors influencing student college choice at a northeastern minnesota tribal college. University of Minnesota). , Report: ED463809. 186p. (Level 1 Available online, if indexed January 1993 onward)

- U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics. (2009), Education
 Directory, Colleges and Universities, Integrated Postsecondary Education Data System,
 "Institutional Characteristics Survey"(IPEDS-IC:86-99), and Fall 2000 through Fall 2008.
 Retrieved from http://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d09/tables/dt09_265.asp
- U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics. (2009). {American College Testing Program. unpublished tabulations, derived from statistics collected by the Census Bureau, U.S. Department of Commerce, Census Bureau, Current Population Survey (CPS] Retreived from http://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d09/tables/dt09_200.asp?referrer=list
- Vander Schee, B. A. (2009). A longitudinal study of changes in marketing practices at private christian colleges. *Journal of Marketing for Higher Education*, *19*(1), 26-37.
- Washburn, S.G., Garton, B. L., & Vaughn, P.R. (2002). Decision making of prospective students: Implications for recruitment practices used by colleges of agriculture. *Proceedings of the 56th Annual American Association for Agricultural Education Central StatesAgricultural Education Research Conference*, St. Louis, 40-55.